NO. 67572-9-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

GUY ROOK,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Elaine L. Winters Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial court order requiring Mr. Rook to be restrained during trial violated his due process right to be present at trial without physical restraints. U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Const. art. I, § 22.
- 2. Mr. Rook's sentence of life without the possibility of parole violated article I, section 14's prohibition against cruel punishment.
- 3. Mr. Rook's sentence of life without the possibility of parole violated the Eighth Amendment's prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment.
- 4. The imposition of a sentence of life without the possibility of parole based upon the trial court's determination by a preponderance of the evidence that Mr. Rook had two prior convictions that qualify as "most serious offenses" violated his right to due process and a jury determination of every element of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV.
- 5. The imposition of a sentence of life without the possibility of parole based upon the trial court's determination by a preponderance of the evidence that Mr. Rook had two prior convictions that qualify as "most serious offenses" violated his right to equal protection of the law. U.S. Const. amend. XIV.

6. The trial court erred by finding that Mr. Rook was convicted of vehicular assault by means of driving while under the influence of alcohol or drugs when the jury specifically found that Mr. Rook was not under the influence of alcohol or drugs.

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. A defendant has the due process right to appear at trial without being physically restrained, and the trial court may only restrain a defendant upon finding he poses an imminent risk of escape, intends to injure someone in the courtroom, or cannot behave in an orderly manner. The trial court ordered Mr. Rook to wear a stun-belt that would shock him with electricity upon activation by a jail guard. Was Mr. Rook's constitutional right to appear at trial free from restraint violated where the stun belt and the apprehension it created interfered with Mr. Rook's ability to be present and fully participate in his defense?
- 2. Article I, section 14 prohibits the State from imposing cruel punishment. Mr. Rook was convicted of vehicular assault for driving in a rash or heedless manner and thereby causing substantial injury to another person, and he was sentenced to life in prison without the possibility of parole. Does Mr. Rook's sentence violate article I, section 14 where (1) the elements of the crime do not include the intentional infliction of great bodily harm, (2) the purpose of the sentencing statute is

to punish violent repeat offenders, (3) Mr. Rook would not receive this sentence for similar conduct in any other state of the Union, and (4) the sentence of life without the possibility of parole could not be imposed for the most similar Washington offense?

- 3. The Eighth Amendment prohibits cruel and unusual punishment. Mr. Rook was convicted of vehicular assault for driving in a rash or heedless manner and thereby causing substantial injury to another person, and he was sentenced to life in prison without the possibility of parole. Does Mr. Rook's sentence violate the Eighth Amendment because it is (1) grossly disproportionate to his conduct, (2) disproportionate to the sentence received by similar offenders in Washington, and (3) disproportionate to the sentence he would receive for the same conduct in the other 49 states?
- 4. A defendant has a Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial and a Fourteenth Amendment right to proof beyond a reasonable doubt of every fact that authorizes an increase in punishment. Did the sentencing court violate Mr. Rook's constitutional rights by imposing a sentence of life without the possibility of parole based on the court's own finding, by a preponderance of the evidence, that Mr. Rook had twice before been convicted of most serious offenses?

- 5. A statute implicating a fundamental liberty interest violates the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment if it creates classifications that are not necessary to further a compelling government interest. The government has an interest in punishing repeat offenders more harshly than first-time offenders, but for some crimes, the existence of prior convictions used to enhance the sentence must be proved to a jury beyond a reasonable doubt, and for others like those at issue in the Persistent Offender Accountability Act the existence of prior convictions used to enhance the sentence need only be proved to a judge by a preponderance of the evidence. Does the Persistent Offender Accountability Act violate the Equal Protection Clause by providing lesser procedural protections than other statutes whose purpose is the same?
- 6. The jury found Mr. Rook guilty of vehicular assault by means of reckless driving and found by special verdict that he was not under the influence of drugs or alcohol. Must Mr. Rook's Judgment and Sentence be remanded to correct the Judgment and Sentence which states the jury found Mr. Rook guilty of vehicular assault under both means?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The King County Prosecutor charged Guy Rook with vehicular assault, by either operating a motor vehicle in a reckless manner or while under the influence of alcohol, and with hit and run driving for an

automobile accident occurring shortly before midnight on August 25, 2009. CP 52-53.

Mr. Rook was with his girlfriend Tracy Rectenwald that evening. 6/16/11RP 13; 6/29/11RP 14. Ms. Rectenwald had been drinking all day, and after the couple got into an argument, Mr. Rook began driving her to her father's house in his 1995 Pontiac. 6/29/11RP 15-16, 31. Mr. Rook was in the area north of Sea-Tac airport, when Ms. Rectenwald, who was still angry, dumped a full cup of coffee and whiskey onto Mr. Rook's lap. 6/29/11RP 18, 31. Mr. Rook's car briefly went a few feet into the oncoming lane of traffic as he looked down in response to the hot beverage. 6/27/11RP 37; 6/29/11RP 17-19, 32. Mr. Rook noticed a police car driving in the opposite direction and accelerated away, going up a rise at about 30 to 35 miles per hour. 6/29/11RP 19-21.

As Mr. Rook neared the intersection at South 154th Street and 24th Avenue South, Ms. Rectenwald waived her arms, striking Mr. Rook in the face and knocking his glasses off his head. 6/16/11RP 13-14; 6/29/11RP 21. 6/29/11RP 23. Mr. Rook is very near-sighted and could not see. 6/29/11RP 23.

Mr. Rook took his foot off the gas as he looked for his glasses, but continued through the intersection because the light was green when he

last saw it. 6/29/11RP 21, 23, 32. He then heard Ms. Rectenwald scream and felt the impact of striking something with his car. 6/29/11RP 23-24.

Mr. Rook's car struck the passenger side of a 1997 Geo driven by Christopher Kalalui, which spun and hit a light pole. 6/16/11RP 17, 57; 6/27/11(MT)RP 3, 6. Mr. Kalalui had been waiting at a red light, and he was about half-way through the intersection after the light turned green. 6/16/11RP 54; 6/27/11(MT)RP 5-7. Lori Patridge was in the car in front of Mr. Kalalui and had been the first one waiting for the light to change. She observed the Pontiac hit the Geo and remained at the scene with Mr. Kalalui until police and medics arrived. 6/16/11RP 57-58, 68-69, 75; 6/27/11(MT)RP 45-46.

Mr. Kalalui was taken to Highline Hospital and then transferred to Harborview. 6/27/11(SR)RP 7; 6/28/11RP 18. Mr. Kalalui's spleen was lacerated, but it stopped bleeding on its own. 6/28/11RP 47-48. Mr. Kalalui's pelvis, hips, and buttocks were bruised but not fractured. 6/28/11RP 28-29, 33, 42, 46. A small piece of Mr. Kalalui's fourth lumbar vertebra, the "transverse process," however, was broken off.

¹ The two transcripts for June 27, 2011, are referred to by date and the initials of the respective court reporters. The transcripts are confusing because one court reporter was replaced by another for a brief period. Michael Townsend Jr. prepared the transcript that includes the testimony of William Butterfield and Sergeant Flynn. 6/27/11(MT)RP 2-81. Sheri Reynolds then took over for the testimony of Mr. Kalalui and the beginning of Andy Conner's testimony. 6/27/11(SR)RP. Mr. Townsend completed the day taking the continued examination of Deputy Conner. 6/27/11(MT)RP 82-93.

6/28/11RP 33, 37-39; see Ex. 63 (illustrative). Afterwards, Mr. Kalalui underwent physical rehabilitation and continued to suffer pain in his shoulder at the time of trial. 6/27/11(SR)RP 8-10.

Port of Seattle Sergeant Dan Flynn was driving the police car that Mr. Rook noticed driving in the opposite directly shortly before the accident. 6/27/11(MT)RP 31, 35. Sergeant Rook pulled his car over to avoid being hit by Mr. Rook's vehicle, which he believed was speeding. 6/27/11)(MT)RP 35-36. After Mr. Rook's car passed, the sergeant turned and followed, but he arrived at the intersection after the crash occurred. 6/27/11(MT)RP 37-38, 40.

After Sergeant Flynn reached the accident site, Mr. Rook got out of his car with difficulty, stumbled across the street and down an embankment into some bushes. 6/16/11RP 61-65; 6/27/11(MT)RP 43. He was not wearing eyeglasses. 6/16/11RP 83. Mr. Rook returned shortly afterwards and repeatedly asked if anyone was hurt; he was immediately arrested. 6/16/11RP 72-74; 6/27/11(MT)RP 48, 50.

Prior to trial, Mr. Rook waived his right to counsel and represented himself until shortly before jury selection when the Honorable James Cayce reinstated defense counsel at Mr. Rook's request because Mr. Rook felt he was "in over his head." Supp CP __ (sub. no. 61, 11/22/10); 11/22/10RP 24; 4/19/11RP 2-4. During the period of time Mr. Rook was

representing himself, the trial court ordered that he wear a "Band-it" stunbelt during his trial. Supp CP ___ (Order on DAJD Motion that Defendant be Restrained During Trial, sub. no. 157, 4/13/11) (hereafter Order Restraining Defendant)

The jury convicted Mr. Rook of vehicular assault and found him not guilty of hit and run driving. CP 191-93. The jury answered a special verdict form indicating it found Mr. Rook guilty of vehicular assault only under the means of operating the motor vehicle in a reckless manner. CP 192.

Question 1: At the time of causing the injury, was the defendant operating the motor vehicle while under the influence of intoxicating liquor or drugs?

Answer: <u>NO</u> (Write "yes" or "no" or "not unanimous").

CP 192.

The court sentenced Mr. Rook to life without the possibility of parole after finding by a preponderance of the evidence that he had prior convictions for first degree robbery in 1985 and rape of a child in the first degree in 1994. CP 489, 491; 8/19/11RP 35-36, 53. This appeal follows. CP 474-85.

D. ARGUMENT

- 1. The unwarranted use of a stun belt throughout his jury trial violated Mr. Rook's constitution right to due process of law.
- a. Due process protects the right of a defendant to appear in court without physical restraints. Criminal defendants have long been entitled to appear in front of the jury free from bonds and shackles absent extraordinary circumstances. U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV; Const. art. 1, § 22; Illinois v. Allen, 397 U.S. 337, 338, 90 S.Ct. 1057, 25 L.Ed.2d 353 (1970); <u>In re Personal Restraint of Davis</u>, 152 Wn.2d 647, 693, 101 P.3d 1 (2004); State v. Williams, 18 Wash. 47, 50, 50 P. 580 (1897) (referring to the "ancient" right to appear in court free from shackles). Physical restraints denigrate the defendant's constitutional right to a fair trial by reversing the presumption of innocence and prejudicing the jury against him. Deck v. Missouri, 544 U.S. 622, 630, 125 S.Ct. 2007, 161 L.Ed.2d 953 (2005); Allen, 397 U.S. at 344; Davis, 152 Wn.2d at 693-94. The use of restraints is also an affront to the dignity accorded to an American courtroom. Deck, 544 U.S. at 631; Allen, 297 at 344. In addition, restraining a defendant restricts his ability to assist counsel during trial, interferes with the right to testify in one's own behalf, and may even confuse or embarrass the defendant sufficiently to impair his ability to reason. Deck, 544 U.S. at 631; Allen, 397 U.S. at 345; State v. Finch, 137

Wn.2d 792, 845, 975 P.2d 967 (and cases cited therein), <u>cert. denied</u>, 528 U.S. 922 (1999); <u>Williams</u>, 18 Wash. at 50-51.

Given the constitutional rights at stake, a court may require a defendant be restrained in court only when necessary to protect the safety of others or prevent escape. <u>Finch</u>, 137 Wn.2d at 846; <u>Williams</u>, 18 Wash. at 51.

The trial court must base its decision to physically restrain a defendant on evidence which indicates that the defendant poses an imminent risk of escape, that the defendant intends to injure someone in the courtroom, or that the defendant cannot behave in an orderly manner in the courtroom.

<u>Davis</u>, 152 Wn.2d at 695 (quoting <u>Finch</u>, 137 Wn.2d at 850). Restraints should only be used as a "last resort," when less restrictive alternatives are not possible. <u>Allen</u>, 397 U.S. at 344; <u>Davis</u>, 137 Wn.2d at 693.

b. The trial court ordered Mr. Rook to wear a stun-belt. Shortly after the case was assigned to Judge Cayce, the King County Department of Adult and Juvenile Detention (Jail) filed a motion asking the trial court to order that Mr. Rook be restrained during his court appearances.² Supp CP__ (DAJD Motion for Order that Defendant be Restrained at Trial, sub. no. 108, 3/25/11) (hereafter DAJD Motion); 4/6/11RP 2, 18-19, 34-35. The criminal prosecutor took no position on the motion. 4/6/11RP 19.

² DAJD operates the King County Jail and provides transportation and guards for inmates during their appearances in King County Superior Court.

The Jail argued that restraints were necessary because Mr. Rook received seven infractions while incarcerated which revealed "a lack of deference to authority, frequent and repeated displays of rage and lack of control, not to mention threats and assaults." CP 80-82. None of the infractions showed that Mr. Rook attempted to escape. CP 80-82. Instead, he kicked a door on one occasion and twice made unsuccessful threats to fight. CP 82. The Jail also referred to Mr. Rook's age, height and weight, his prior record, and the sentence he faced if convicted. CP 109. The jail also claimed there were limited alternatives for restraining a prisoner during trial and recommended the stun-belt. CP 83, 85-89; DAJD Motion at 16-17.

The court determined the motion based upon the declarations provided by the Jail, Mr. Rook's testimony and pre-trial exhibit as well as unsworn information from Jail Captain Danley.³ 4/6/11RP 27-38, 40-44.

Mr. Rook denied that the infractions cited by the Jail had occurred and pointed out that he had never attempted to escape and his criminal history did not include any assaults. 4/6/11RP 29-33, 35. He added that he walked with a limp and weighed less than the Jail had asserted. 4/6/11RP 26-27, 31. Mr. Rook promised that he would not misbehave in

³ Although the trial court admitted the information Mr. Rook provided as a pretrial exhibit, the clerk never filed the information as an exhibit. 4/6/11RP 28.

the courtroom. 4/6/11RP 33-35. "I'm not going to act a fool in the courtroom, you know, I need that jury on my side." 4/6/11RP 34.

During the course of Mr. Rook's testimony in opposition to the Jail's motion, the court inquired as to which method of restraint he would prefer:

Court: Do you suggest any alternatives?

Mr. Rook: You've got armed guard in here that are told to kill you if you try to do anything stupid.

Court: Other than having a guard kill you?

Mr. Rook: I don't know, it is just whatever your Honor wants, I mean, I guess

Court: Well, the jail has made some other suggestions. Is there anything else that you feel would be better than what they are suggesting if I do find – I'm not finding anything at this point.

Mr. Rook: You know, this – I guess the best thing, if you decide that I'm going to be a fool, would be that leg band thing that the jury can't see it . . .

4/6/11RP 34. Later the attorney for the Jail asked Mr. Rook what form of restraint he would prefer, and Mr. Rook stated the stun-belt was his choice "if I am ordered to do that." 6/4/11RP 37.

Without determining if Mr. Rook was a security risk who warranted restraints during trial, the court stated it had "serious concerns that I'm not going to express on the record about security in this

courtroom" that could only be addressed by having Mr. Rook "closely guarded by the [jail] officers." 4/6/11RP 39, 40. The court added that "anyone facing life should be considered a serious security risk." 4/6/11RP 39. After discussing where the restraint belt would be placed on Mr. Rook's body, the court reiterated that "the security . . . is going to be much different if you chose to have it or I order it, even over your objection." 6/4/11RP 43-45. Mr. Rook responded, "Go ahead and order it, I've got no problem." 6/4/11RP45.

The court then ordered that Mr. Rook be restrained with the REACT stun belt during the trial. Order Restraining Defendant. The court declined to enter specific written findings of fact and conclusions of law, but based its oral ruling upon (1) the court's unrevealed concerns about the security of the courtroom, (2) the life sentence Mr. Rook was facing, and (3) Mr. Rook's agreement to the use of the stun belt.⁴ 4/6/11RP 39, 45, 52.

Mr. Rook was first placed in the stun-belt for his CrR 3.5 hearing. He argued that the belt would hamper his ability to defend himself because he was not permitted to get out of his chair, even to cross-examine witnesses or present opening argument, and was forbidden from using body language or approaching the jury. 4/14/11RP 7, 12-13. The court

⁴ When the court explained the ruling was based upon Mr. Rook's agreement, Mr. Rook said he did not remember making such a statement. 4/6/11RP 47.

informed Mr. Rook that he needed to provide a written brief on the issue. 4/14/11RP 13, 14. The court again threatened Mr. Rook with more severe restrictions if he did not agree to the stun-belt. "You will be more restricted if you don't have a band, I will guarantee that." 4/14/11RP 13.

c. The trial court abused its discretion by ordering Mr. Rook to wear a stun-belt in the absence of evidence that he was an escape risk, was likely to injure anyone in the courtroom, or would not behave in an orderly manner. The trial court has discretion to ensure that the courtroom is safe. Allen, 397 U.S. 343; State v. Hartzog, 96 Wn.2d 383, 396, 635 P.2d 694 (1981). But that discretion must be exercised based upon facts of the individual case set forth in the record. Hartzog, 96 Wn.2d at 492. Those facts must show that the defendant poses an imminent risk of escape, that the defendant intends to injure someone in the courtroom, or that the defendant cannot behave in an orderly manner in the courtroom. Finch, 137 Wn.2d at 850.

i. Mr. Rook did not waive his constitutional right to be free from restraints during trial. The trial court based its decision in part upon Mr. Rook's agreement to the stun-belt. The court's colloquy with Mr. Rook, however, shows that Mr. Rook did not knowingly, intelligently or voluntarily waive his constitutional right to be free from restraints during trial.

A waiver is "an intentional relinquishment or abandonment of a known right or privilege." <u>Johnson v. Zerbst</u>, 304 U.S. 458, 464, 58 S.Ct. 1019, 82 L.Ed.2d 1461 (1938). Thus, the waiver of a constitutional right must be knowing, intelligent and voluntary. <u>State v. Strode</u>, 167 Wn.2d 222, 229 n.3, 217 P.3d 310 (2009) (right to be public trial); <u>City of Seattle v. Klein</u>, 161 Wn.2d 554, 560, 166 P.3d 1149 (2007) (right to appeal); <u>City of Bellevue v. Acrey</u>, 103 Wn.2d 203, 207, 209-10, 691 P.2d 957 (2008) (rights to counsel and jury trial). The State bears the burden of proving a knowing, intelligent and voluntary wavier of a constitutional right. <u>Klein</u>, 161 Wn.2d at 561.

Mr. Rook did not have the information needed to make an informed decision about waiving his constitutional rights. The court never told Mr. Rook that he had a constitutional right to appear without restraints. The judge stated he had concerns about the security of his courtroom but declined to reveal what they were. 4/6/11RP 39-40. The court also stated he would position the jail security officers in specific areas of the courtroom if Mr. Rook did not agree to other restraints, but would not reveal how many he would require and where they would be positioned. 4/6/11RP 40. The court only warned Mr. Rook that the security would look "much different" than it did at the pre-trial hearing. 4/6/11RP 44-45.

Because he was not provided with information about the alternatives, Mr. Rook could not validly waive his constitutional rights. Mr. Rook's agreement was not a valid waiver of his constitutional right to attend his trial without restraints because it was not knowing or voluntary. As the trial court observed, Mr. Rook agreed to the stun-belt only because of the court's "comments about the way security is going to look in the court." 4/6/11RP 45. Mr. Rook was thus under the impression that he would face repercussions that would hurt his chances at a fair trial if he did not agree.

Courts require that defendants be fully informed before they are asked to waive important constitutional rights. For example, when the State seeks to justify a warrantless search of the defendant's home based upon consent, the government must prove that the consent was voluntary. State v. Ferrier, 136 Wn.2d 103, 110, 960 P.2d 927 (1998). The police must therefore inform the homeowner of her right to refuse consent, to revoke consent, and to limit the scope of the search. Ferrier, 136 Wn.2d at 118-19. Otherwise, the Ferrier Court reasoned, the State would be unable to prove the consent was voluntary.

If we were to reach any other conclusion, we would not be satisfied that a home dweller who consents to a warrantless search possessed the knowledge necessary to make an informed decision. That being the case, the State would be

unable to meet its burden of proving that a knowing and voluntary waiver occurred.

Id. at 116-17.

Similarly, law enforcement officers must clearly and unequivocally inform a suspect in police custody of his constitutional rights to remain silent and to counsel before interrogating the suspect. Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 467-68, 471, 86 S.Ct. 1602, 16 L.Ed.2d 694 (1966).

Miranda warnings are "indispensible" to overcome the pressures of interrogation "and to insure that the individual knows he is free to exercise the privilege at that point in time." Miranda, 384 U.S. at 469. In addition the police are required to inform the defendant that anything he says can be used against him in court so that he will understand the consequences of waiving his right to remain silent. Id. at 469. "It is only through an awareness of these consequences that there can be any assurance of real understanding and intelligent exercise of the privilege." Id.

The trial court never informed Mr. Rook that he had a constitutional right to appear in court without restraints. The court also threatened Mr. Rook with visible and more intensive security if he did not agree to the stun-belt, but would not describe this alternative. Mr. Rook lacked the information necessary to make an intelligent decision and was threatened with greater security if he did not agree. Thus, the State cannot

prove that Mr. Rook's agreement to the stun-belt was either a knowing or a voluntary waiver of his constitutional right to appear in court without restraints.

courtroom are not on the record. The court's decision to order Mr. Rook to wear the stun-belt was based in part about the judge's concern for the security of his individual courtroom. In determining the security measures necessary in a courtroom, a trial court judge must rely upon facts in the record. Hartzog, 96 Wn.2d at 400. The court, however, did not describe its concerns about courtroom security or otherwise place them on the record. Thus, there is nothing to support the court's conclusion that the courtroom was not safe with traditional security measures.

iii. The sentence Mr. Rook faced did not justify the use of a stun-belt. The trial court also reasoned that the stun-belt was a necessary precaution because Mr. Rook faced a life sentence if convicted of vehicular assault. The possibility of a life sentence, however, is not a sufficient reason in itself to warrant restraining the defendant. Finch, 137 Wn.2d at 849 (citing People v. Boose, 66 Ill.2d 261, 267, 362 N.Ed.2d 303, 5 Ill.Dec. 832 (1977)). Instead, the court must focus on factors showing the defendant actually poses a risk of escape or assaults on others. Id. at 851. The trial court's reliance upon Mr. Rook's possible

sentence was improper in the absence of findings that Mr. Rook was an escape risk or would assault a participant or disrupt the court proceedings.

iv. *The trial court did not consider less restrictive*measures. In deciding to restrain a defendant during trial, the court must order the least restrictive form of restraint possible. Finch, 137 Wn.2d at 853-54; Gonzalez v. Pliler, 341 F.3d 897, 901 (9th Cir. 2003). The only alternatives considered by the court on the record appear to be more, rather than less restrictive than the stun-belt. These include the measures mentioned by the jail and placing jail officers "over there when you testify, or not allowing you to testify from there." CP 85-95; 4/6/11RP 34, 39. The court made no mention of other security measures, such as moving the witnesses. See, Hartzog, 96 Wn.2d at 401 (court must consider wide variety of choices). The trial court thus erred by not considering less serious security measures. Finch, 137 Wn.2d at 854.

v. The trial court's decision to restrain Mr. Rook violated his constitutional right to appear at his jury trial free from restraints. A court may not require an offender to appear in trial in restraints because of a nebulous concern that he is "potentially dangerous." Finch, 137 Wn.2d at 852; Hartzog, 96 Wn.2d at 400. The record is devoid of any evidence that Mr. Rook was disruptive in court, the Jail did not argue that he had been, and the court did not base its decision on Mr. Rook's past courtroom

behavior. This Court has the transcripts for over 20 court appearances, and Mr. Rook did not verbally or physically threaten any party. See Finch, 127 Wn.2d at 852 (defendant attended numerous pre-trial hearings without incident). There was similarly no evidence Mr. Rook was an escape risk. Mr. Rook's prior record does not include any assaults or escapes. CP 491; Supp CP ___ (Presentence Report of King County Prosecuting Attorney, sub. no. 191, 8/18/11) at 9 (hereafter State's Presentence Report).

In <u>Finch</u> a defendant facing the death penalty for two murders was placed in leg shackles throughout his jury trial and handcuffs were added for the testimony of two witnesses. <u>Finch</u>, 137 Wn.2d at 804, 850. Finch was not an escape risk, he had been compliant at all prior hearings, and he had no history of violence, but the court ordered the restraints based upon the concerns of the jail correctional officers. <u>Id</u>. at 851-52. The Supreme Court found the court erred by ordering shackling when the defendant "was never disruptive in court, he was not an escape risk, and he posed no threat to anyone other than possibly [one witness]." <u>Id</u>. at 864.

The trial court similarly erred in Mr. Rook's case. Mr. Rook's agreement to the stun-belt was not a valid waiver of his constitutional rights, as the court threatened Mr. Rook with more severe and unnamed security measures if he did not agree. The court's concerns for the

existing security in the courtroom are not in the record. And the life sentence Mr. Rook faced does not justify the use of trial restraints. The use of the stun-belt violated Mr. Rook's constitutional rights.

- d. Mr. Rook's conviction for vehicular assault must be reversed and remanded for a new trial. The unwarranted use of restraints during trial is a constitutional error that is presumed prejudicial. State v. Damon, 144 Wn.2d 686, 632, 25 P.3d 418 (2001); Finch, 137 Wn.2d at 839. The State thus bears the burden of proving harmless error beyond a reasonable doubt. Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 24, 87 S.Ct. 824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705 (1967); Damon, 144 Wn.2d at 632. In deciding if constitutional error is harmless, Washington courts utilize the "overwhelming untainted evidence" adopted in State v. Guloy, 104 Wn.2d 412, 425, 705 P.2d 1182 (1985), cert. denied, 475 U.S. 1020 (1986). Finch, 137 Wn.2d at 859. Under this test, the appellate court looks only to the untainted evidence to determine if it is "so overwhelming that it necessarily leads to a finding of guilt." Guloy, 104 Wn.2d at 426.
- i. Mr. Rook's constitutional right to be present at trial and present his defense were violated. In some cases, Washington courts have looked to whether the restraints were visible and therefore had an injurious effect on the jury verdict. Damon, 144 Wn.2d at 693; State v. Hutchinson, 135 Wn.2d 863, 888, 959 P.2d 1061 (1998) (finding error harmless

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