A. ISSUES PRESENTED 

1. Whether the trial court properly exercised its discretion in 

granting the King County Jail's motion for Rook to wear a security 

device that was invisible to the jury, given the trial court's concerns 

about the layout of the courtroom, the fact that Rook was facing a 

life sentence, and Rook's agreement that he would wear it. 

2. Whether Rook's life sentence under the Persistent 

Offender Accountability Act for a third "strike" offends the 

Washington Constitution's prohibition against cruel punishment. 

3. Whether Rook's life sentence offends the Eighth 

Amendment's prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment. 

4. Whether Rook's claim that he was entitled to a jury trial 

on his prior convictions for purposes of the POM should be 

rejected based on controlling authority. 

5. Whether Rook's claim that the POM violates equal 

protection should be rejected based on controlling authority. 

6. Whether a scrivener's error in Rook's judgment and 

sentence should be corrected. 
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B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

1. PROCEDURAL FACTS 

The State charged the defendant, Guy Rook, with vehicular 

assault (under the DUI and "reckless manner" alternative means) 

and felony hit and run based on a collision that occurred on August 

25, 2009 and resulted in serious injuries to another driver, Chris 

Kalaluhi. CP 1-7, 52-53. 

During the protracted pretrial proceedings, after Rook 

unsuccessfully moved to discharge his fourth court-appointed 

attorney, Rook decided to proceed pro se and waived his right to 

counsel,1 despite the fact that he was facing a life sentence under 

the Persistent Offender Accountability Act. CP 505-06; 

RP (10/14/10) 8-12; RP (11/22/10) 15-24. After concluding that 

Rook had knowingly and voluntarily waived his right to counsel, the 

court was not prepared to address Rook's motions regarding 

discovery at that time. In response, Rook exclaimed, "Thanks for 

fucking me again! Piece of - ". RP (11/22/10) 26. 

Rook's discovery demands were discussed at the next 

hearing, during which Rook constantly interrupted both counsel and 

1 Rook's fourth defense attorney was then appointed as standby counsel. 
RP (11/22/10) 24. 
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the court. See, e.g., RP (1/7/11) 43-48. The next hearing was 

difficult as well; Rook accused the prosecutor of "malicious 

prosecution and abuse of process," and asserted that "[t]he 

prosecutor looked at my past history, said this guy is a dumb ass, 

let's roll the dice." RP (1/14/11) 53, 60. These issues reoccurred at 

the next hearing, where Rook continued to accuse the prosecutor 

of misconduct and pounded on the table. RP (2/4/11) 65-67, 79, 

81. Eventually, the court asked Rook to keep his voice down. 

RP (2/4/11) 84. Rook became agitated and pounded the table 

again . RP (2/4/11) 96-97. At the next hearing, Rook continued to 

insist that the prosecution was relying on "perjured" documents 

and had committed a crime by charging Rook with a crime. 

RP (2/18/11) 106, 122-23. 

At the next hearing, the pre-assigned trial judge addressed 

the King County Jail's motion for Rook to wear a "Sand-it," a fabric 

band that delivers an electric shock when activated by a hand-held 

control by a corrections officer. Counsel for the jail made the 

motion based on Rook's volatile behavior, his jail infractions, and 

the fact that he was facing a life sentence. CP 507-33. During his 

testimony regarding the jail's motion, Rook denied the infractions, 

argued that he had not engaged in "displays of rage and lack of 
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control," denied all but one alleged confrontation with corrections 

officers, and claimed that he would not "act a fool" in the courtroom. 

RP (4/6/11) 29-31,34. 

When the trial court asked Rook if he had any alternative 

suggestions other than wearing the Band-it, Rook noted there were 

"armed guards here that are told to kill you if you try to do anything 

stupid ." RP (4/6/11) 34. When the trial court asked for suggestions 

"other than having a guard kill you," Rook said, "I guess the best 

thing, if you decide that I'm going to be a fool, would be that leg 

band thing that the jury can't see[.]" RP (4/6/11) 34. 

The trial court confirmed with the jail's counsel and a jail 

captain that the Band-it would be placed on Rook's calf under his 

clothing and would not be visible to the jury, that the officer with the 

control device could be seated unobtrusively in another part of the 

courtroom, and that it would not be activated unless there was an 

attempted escape or an attempted assault. RP (4/6/11) 39-44. 

The trial court repeatedly expressed serious concerns about the 

ability to maintain security without the Band-it in light of the physical 

layout of the courtroom. RP (4/6/11) 40, 44-46. Eventually, the 

following exchange occurred: 
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THE COURT: Okay. So I guess my initial 
point is, I haven't made any ruling as to whether I will 
require it or not, but I do know that the security - the 
way it looks is going to be much different if you 
choose to have [the Band-it] or if I order it, even over 
your objection. 

MR. ROOK: Go ahead and order it, I've got no 
problem. 

THE COURT: Okay. All right. 

MS. BALIN [counsel for the jail]: Very well, 
your Honor. 

THE COURT: So we'll do that. 

RP (4/6/11) 44-45. The court granted the jail's motion for Rook to 

wear the Band-it based on security concerns regarding the physical 

configuration of the courtroom, the fact that Rook was facing a life 

sentence, and Rook's express agreement that he would wear it. 

RP (4/6/11) 45-47, 52; CP 534-35. The court declined to enter 

findings of fact and conclusions of law regarding Rook's behavior 

and infractions in the jail because Rook had agreed to wear the 

device and because the court's other stated reasons for ordering it 

(which were uncontested by Rook) were sufficient. RP (4/6/11) 45. 

Less than two weeks later, Rook informed the trial court that 

he no longer wanted to represent himself because he was "in over 

[his] head." RP (4/19/11) 2-3. The trial court re-appointed Rook's 
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standby counsel to represent Rook at trial, and granted a recess so 

that counsel could finish preparing for trial. RP (4/19/11) 3-4; 

CP 536. 

The jury trial took place in June 2011. Rook had various 

outbursts at different points in the trial, including at the conclusion 

of his trial testimony, when he blurted gratuitous remarks at the 

jurors as they were being excused .2 RP (6/29/11) 50-51. At the 

conclusion of the trial, the jury found Rook guilty of vehicular 

assault and acquitted Rook of felony hit and run. CP 191, 193. 

The jury also answered an interrogatory that they had found Rook 

guilty of vehicular assault under the "reckless manner" alternative 

means, but did not find him guilty under the DUI alternative means. 

CP 192. 

At sentencing, the trial court found that Rook's criminal 

history included a conviction for robbery in the first degree and a 

conviction for rape of a child in the first degree. Accordingly, the 

trial court sentenced Rook to life in prison without the possibility of 

parole as required under the POAA. CP 486-95; RP (8/19/11) 

2 This outburst was serious enough that the trial court admonished Rook, outside 
the presence of the jury, that he was "one comment [away] from me asking the 
officer to activate" the Band-it. RP (6/29/11) 51. 
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35-36, 53. Rook's parting words regarding the court and both 

counsel included: 

You see what I've been dealing with? These 
fuckers, they are so corrupt. Over there grinning, 
laughing. It's real funny. They know the cops lie, 
they know they lie, you know this whole thing is built 
on lies. 

RP (8/19/11) 58. 

Rook now appeals. CP 474-85. 

2. SUBSTANTIVE FACTS 

On August 25,2009 at approximately 11 :40 p.m., Sergeant 

Dan Flynn of the Port of Seattle Police Department was driving his 

patrol car on S. 154th St. at the north end of Sea-Tac Airport. RP 

(6/27/11 - Townsend) 28-32.3 As Flynn was driving around a blind 

corner near the third runway, he saw a car approaching from the 

opposite direction at very high speed that was partially over the 

center line. RP (6/27/11 - Townsend) 35-36. Flynn visually 

estimated the oncoming car's speed at 70 mph; the posted speed 

limit was 35. Flynn fully expected that a collision was imminent, so 

3 The verbatim report of proceedings on June 27, 2011 comprises two volumes 
prepared by two different court reporters. This brief references these volumes by 
both the date and the court reporter's last name (i.e., "Townsend" or "Runnels") 
for clarity's sake. 
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he pulled off the road to the right and braced for impact. RP 

(6/27/11 - Townsend) 36. Fortunately, the speeding car "blows 

right by" Flynn at that point and continued around the corner at a 

high rate of speed. RP (6/27/11 - Townsend) 36-37. Flynn 

activated his emergency lights, turned around, and began a pursuit. 

RP (6/27/11 - Townsend) 37-38. The last time Flynn saw the car in